

# **GEOSCIENCES**

Graduate Student Handbook
Updated August 2023

# Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	2
CONTACTS	2
ABBREVIATIONS	3
EXPECATIONS & TIDBITS	3
DEPARTMENTAL POLICIES	4
FINANCIAL SUPPORT & RESIDENCY	7
GUIDELINES FOR GRADUATE TEACHING ASSISTANTS	9
YOU NEED TO KNOW	11
GEOSCIENCES CODE OF CONDUCT	13
MASTER OF SCIENCE (GEOLOGY) PROGRAM	14
APPLIED ENVIRONMENTAL GEOSCIENCE (MS-AEG) PROGRAM	23
DOCTORATE OF PHILOSOPHY (GEOLOGY PHD) PROGRAM	27
DEPARTMENT AND UNIVERSITY FORMS	38
RESOURCES	39
ADDITIONAL RESOURCES & SUPPORT	41
DEPARTMENT OF GEOSCIENCES SCHOLARSHIPS	43

# UTAH STATE UNIVERSITY, DEPARTMENT OF GEOSCIENCES GRADUATE HANDBOOK AND POLICIES

# **INTRODUCTION**

Welcome to the Graduate Program in Geosciences at Utah State University! This handbook is a source of information about policies and procedures within the Department. Items in this handbook do not replace University or School of Graduate Studies policies and requirements.

#### **CONTACTS**

Your advisor is your primary resource in the Geosciences program. Others that will be able to help you are: **Graduate Program Director** 

- Dennis Newell, <u>dennis.newell@usu.edu</u>
  - directs recruitment efforts, including scholarships and funding; establishes TA roles, office spaces; reviews coursework checklist for new grads, monitors progress

#### Graduate Program Coordinator (GPC)

- Kelly Bradbury, <u>kelly.bradbury@usu.edu</u>, 435-797-0515
  - serves as liaison between graduate school and Department; assists with required academic forms and degree progress

# **Laboratory Manager**

- Audrey Warren, <u>audrey.warren@usu.edu</u>
  - o Stable Isotope & ICP-MS labs, safety, equipment

#### Office Manager & Business Assistant

- Hollie Richards, hollie.richards@usu.edu, 435-230-2001
  - o any money questions, employee paperwork, travel, and snarky remarks

#### **Program Assistant**

- Ellen Imler, ellen.imler@usu.edu, 435-797-1273
  - o travel for field trips (TA), equipment checkout, and ordering of supplies

#### Department Head

- Joel Pederson, joel.pederson@usu.edu, 435-797-7097
  - o to bug if bugging one of the above people doesn't work ©

# Students are responsible for informing themselves of current polices and requirements.

Please refer to the <u>USU General Catalog</u>. Much useful information will be found at the <u>School of Graduate Studies</u> website under the "Current Students" tab.

The School of Graduate Studies will have most of the forms you will need.

Useful source of information, including details of the <u>USU Student Code</u>, is found at <u>Student Affairs</u>.

The <u>Equity Office</u> covers discrimination & sexual harassment/misconduct, Contact them with any concerns.

The Geosciences Department has a Code of Conduct (see page 13).

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

BNR	Biology & Natural Resources Building	CAPS	Counseling & Psychological Services
CoS	College of Science	ESLC	Eccles Science Learning Center (location of CoS Dean's office)
GPC	Graduate Program Coordinator	OHS	Office of Health & Safety
PoS	Plan of Study	RA	Research Assistant
SGS	School of Graduate Studies	TA	Teaching Assistant
TA	Travel Authorization Form (before travel)	TR	Travel Reimbursement Form (after travel)
TSC	Taggart Student Center	NR	College of Natural Resources

# **EXPECATIONS & TIDBITS**

- Much of our communications happen through email. <u>Set up</u> and use your USU account. It is
  preferred for you to use firstname.lastname, but not required.
- You will receive a set of keys and a building prox card. Key are picked up at the <a href="Key Office">Key Office</a> on the east side of campus. Students pay a one-time key deposit of \$25 & prox deposit of \$5, which is refunded when the keys are returned. Work with your advisor and Hollie to request the right keys.
- Picture <u>ID cards</u> are gotten at the Taggart Student Center (TSC) room 212. There is a \$15 chargeYour ID card functions as your library, meal, activities, rec center, computer access, health center, and copy card.
- <u>Student parking passes</u> are available at the <u>Parking Office</u> on the north edge of campus.
- <u>Lab Safety Training</u> is done in two parts. The first part is online and must be completed before taking the second part in-person.
- Treat colleagues, research funds, field & lab equipment, and samples with respect.
- Take advantage of professional opportunities in research group, department, on campus, at conferences, and in broader community.
- You are expected to attend the department's <u>Seminar Speaker Series</u>, which is typically held on Mondays at 3:30pm. Speakers are drawn from academia, industry, and government agencies. Broad exposure to the ideas and research of other geoscientists is a critical aspect of graduate training.
- <u>Science Unwrapped</u> is once a month on a Friday evening.
- Several other departments and colleges offer seminar series or workshops that may be beneficial to your research or career goals.
- Consider your program as a full-time job and be engaged with your research group and the broader department community.

- Labs—Lab safety training is offered by EH&S. Specialized training offered by Geosciences is required before using labs, including the rock saws.
- Computers—Let Hollie or Joel know if there is software that you require that isn't currently on a
  department computer. They will arrange for IT to install it. Service and repair of a departmental
  computer, even if at your desk, must be run through Hollie or Joel, who set up a work order
  with IT.
- Thesis formatting and content is important. A <u>publication guide</u> is available on the SGS website.

#### **DEPARTMENTAL POLICIES**

#### Field and Lab Equipment & Safety

Most department equipment may be borrowed by students for their use in field work, research, or class activities. Different equipment is maintained by varying faculty & staff

- General Field Equipment
  - Field equipment items include basic Brunton Compasses, measuring tapes, shovels & picks, color charts, GPS units, and portable stereoscopes. There is also a significant store of camping equipment, field cooking equipment, water containers, etc.
- Survey Equipment
  - A survey-grade GPS unit and a high-precision RTK-GPS unit are available. To request their use, please check with Joel Pederson.
- Microscopes
  - Check with Don Penman about binocular scopes and Alexis Ault for research petrographic scopes.
- Other minor equipment
  - Use of other equipment may be arranged by contacting the particular faculty or staff as listed below:

•	Rock crushers & grinder	005A	Alexis Ault
•	Rock prep area, thin sections	004	Carol Dehler
•	Research scopes and mineral separation	217	Alexis Ault
•	Seismic, resistivity, magnetometer	G006	Tony Lowry
•	Portable pXRF, magnetic susceptibility	117	Audrey Warren
	meter, gamma spectrometer		, add of Wallett

- Major Laboratory Instruments
  - Students wishing to use our mass spectrometers, or other capabilities of the GEO 115 &
     GEO 214 geochemistry labs will need to work through Audrey Warren (GEO 214), Dennis Newell (GEO 210), and/or Don Penman (GEO 212).
  - o For XRD (GEO 117) use, contact Kelly Bradbury (GEO 112).
  - For the USU Luminescence Lab or the Malvern particle-size analyzer, contact Tammy Rittenour (GEO 110).
  - User time/number of analyses will be tracked for billing purposes. Check with the primary lab contacts for current rates.
- Laboratory Safety & OSHA Standards
  - o The department must comply with OSHA standards in storage and use of all chemicals, including dark-room chemicals, epoxy, hydrochloric acid, alcohol, and acetone.

- Access to some lab areas is restricted.
- Safety training and acknowledged receipt of Safety Data Sheets (SDS) are required in labs using chemicals.
- Any graduate student or faculty member working within USU labs must take a <u>Lab Safety</u> <u>Initial Training</u> through Environmental Health & Safety. A Safety Refresher training must be renewed annually for all lab users.
- Each lab and/or instrument within the Department of Geosciences may also require userspecific training. The PI and/or Lab Manager of the lab carries out these specific trainings and/or has another approved qualified user to conduct the training.
- If working with the portable XRF (pXRF), and additional 8-hour <u>Radiation Safety</u> course is required. A Radiation Safety Refresher course is also required annually. Please see Audrey Warren to schedule these trainings.
- USU offers <u>Wilderness First Aid [WFA]</u> courses (paid for by the department and/or major professors) and is available for all students who TA field courses and/or are conducting field research.

# **Travel Policies**

- Travel Authorization/Travel Reimbursement (TA/TR)
  - o If you are doing any travel related to University business, including attending conferences & doing fieldwork, you must complete the proper <u>travel form</u> at least two weeks in advance. For procedures and help starting the paperwork, visit Hollie or Ellen in the front office as soon as you know your travel will occur. The process can take time, and the form must be completed prior to travel for insurance purposes.
- Driving Training Certification
  - Students are often asked to drive a department, university, or personal vehicle for teaching or research purposes. You must complete the state mandated on-line <u>driver</u> <u>training test</u> before driving for any University purpose. [This isn't the same as a State of Utah driver's license.]
  - Forward the certificate you receive to Ellen.
  - o The training must be renewed every two years.

# • Vehicles

- The department owns three vehicles and a trailer. The vehicles and trailer are parked in a state lot east of the <u>Housing Support Services</u> building off of 1000 North.
- As a TA you will be responsible for picking up and returning the vehicles. Be prepared to plan ahead.
- Our fleet of vehicles was started by generous donations from alumni, and we need to keep them in good shape as long as possible.

#### Driving Process

- You will be given a pouch with the vehicle keys, gas card, and insurance/registration information, as well as a pre/post-trip inspection sheet.
- Make sure the inspections are fully completed before and after each trip.
- The beginning and ending mileage are critical for each trip. This information *MUST* be filled in.
- After each trip, make sure the tank has no less than ¾ gas, and wash/vacuum as needed.
- Once the vehicle(s) are returned to their parking spot, promptly return the key pouch and inspection sheet to the office.
- Parking tickets are the responsibility of the driver, not the department
- o Poor driving may result in revocation of privileges.

- Other Notes
  - o The department helps support registration and student travel to one professional meeting
    - You must present a poster or paper
    - You must also apply for additional <u>travel funding</u> from the School of Graduate Studies.
  - Do not work alone in the field. Notify contacts as to your whereabouts and timing (notify the department head if no one else is available). A Field Safety Plan is required for all field activities.

#### **Keys and Building Security**

- Students are typically issued two keys and a prox card. Work with Hollie and your advisor to order them.
- One key will access the specific office/lab space consented by your major advisor; the other is a sub-master that allows access to the following rooms: 401, 202, 102, 101. The prox card gives you access to the building after hours and on weekends.
- All members of the department with keys share in the responsibility for department security. Please make sure *ALL* unattended research labs and offices are kept locked.

#### Geosciences Office—Supplies and Facilities

- Office supplies are purchased with state funds and should not be taken for personal use.
- When a specific item is needed, but the office doesn't have it in stock, talk to Hollie or Ellen about the possibility of ordering it.
- Do not take staplers, scissors, tape dispensers, or other office equipment out of the office. These items are maintained for the convenience of all.
- Letterhead is used only for official departmental correspondence and should not be used for any
  other purpose. Students may us letterhead for research-related or profession-level
  correspondence. Letterhead is digital, but USU watermarked paper can be accessed from the
  office through your advisor.

# Geosciences Map Library & Book Collection

The department maintains a collection of geologic and topographic maps, with emphasis on the intermountain west. In addition, we have a collection of USU Geo Graduate theses & dissertations, various regional field guides & technical reports, and some scientific journals.

Some holdings are Federal Depository holdings and are not the property of the Geosciences Department. In order to maintain its usefulness as a reference for all, it is critical that maps and volumes be properly returned for reshelving.

- The Map Library is in GEOL G138.
- There is not a dedicated librarian, so access must be somewhat restricted and focused on research and teaching purposes.
- Geo theses and dissertations and regional field guides and reports are in GEOL 203A.
- Access is limited to regular office hours (M-F, 8:00a-5:00p).
- Books & maps must be signed out.
- If you somehow compromise the last copy of a given map or document, please notify the office staff so that replacements can be obtained.
- <u>USU's library</u> has many electronic resources for when you are off campus.

# FINANCIAL SUPPORT & RESIDENCY

Note: The Geosciences Department cannot pay for field trip & course-specific fees. Graduate students are responsible for paying these fees. Graduate students also need to contribute 20% of the subsidized student insurance costs if they choose this coverage. Students that do not need university health insurance must opt-out of this coverage and show proof of alternate insurance each semester.

# **Graduate Assistantships**

- Graduate research and teaching assistantships, and their accompanying tuition/fee waivers, are
  available to students in our MS & PhD programs. Students in the AEG-MS program do not qualify
  for departmental assistantships but are encouraged to apply for other funding sources including
  department scholarships.
- Graduate research assistantships (RAs) are awarded to students according to the funding sources secured by individual faculty members. RA assignments are research-related and needs of projects may or may not directly relate to a student's thesis.
- Graduate teaching assistantships (TAs) are limited in number. They are distributed at the discretion of the department. As a general rule, they are *not* automatically renewed for successive years. Sufficient progress toward degree completion is needed for additional years of TA funding (typically limited to two years for MS students).
- Grad students with TAs and RA appointments must be registered as full-time grad students.
  - Minimum of 6 credit hours until the required number of coursework and Thesis-research credits are completed as outlined in the student's Program of Study (30 credits for MS, 42 credits for PhD)
  - o If student remains in the program past completion of their POS, and they remain on an Assistantship, the minimum number of credits drops to 3 credits. Students must fill out a <u>full-time at 3-credits form</u> through the School of Graduate Studies.
- TA/RA appointments are typically for 50% time (20 hours per week)
  - You are a full-time student and a part-time university employee.
  - With a 50% appointment time, you may not accept additional university employment without permission of the School of Graduate Studies.
  - With an assistantship and being a full-time student, concurrent off-campus employment is very strongly discouraged.
- In order to gain continuing support beyond the second (MS) and third (PhD) semesters of study, you must have an approved Program of Study form on file in the School of Graduate Studies.

# **Tuition Support**

If you are receiving a graduate teaching or research assistantship, a graduate fellowship, or most scholarships, the University provides a non-resident tuition waiver your first year. Fellowships and scholarships may cover in-state tuition portion. The Geosciences Department helps accomplish this through research funds and donations from generous alumni. The department also covers student body fees, but not course fees.

# **Utah Residency**

USU can only cover the relatively expensive nonresident tuition for the first 12 months of your program. If you are a U.S. citizen and not a formal resident of Utah, you must take the steps to gain formal residency in your first year here. This includes, but is not limited to, things like gaining a Utah driver license, registering as a voter in Utah, and providing financial and tax information. Information about the steps toward residency and the required application form are on the Admissions website.

#### **Government Financial Aid**

As a graduate student, you may apply for financial aid, including work study, even if you have a TA or RA. If you qualify and receive work study or other forms of financial aid, then it may be used in conjunction with an assistantship and has advantages for both the department and student. Also, completing the FAFSA is required to be eligible for most department and university scholarships.

#### Student Health Insurance

Full-time graduate students receiving graduate assistantship support are required to have health insurance. All enrolled graduate students, including those less than full-time or not receiving assistantship support, are eligible for this insurance at subsidized rates.

If you receive an RA or TA, we will enroll you in a <u>subsidized student health insurance plan</u> and you are assessed a relatively affordable fee during registration [20% of the cost]. If you prefer to be covered by other insurance, you must actively document that coverage and each semester waive the USU insurance plan at the beginning of each semester.

#### **Department Funding Sources**

The Geosciences Department has several named scholarships that can be awarded to graduate students in support of research. To qualify, your Program of Study form must be on file in the School of Graduate Studies. Applications are conducted through <u>USU's Scholarship Universe</u> system in the early spring semester and selections are made late in the spring semester. Awards are on the order of \$1000-2000 but vary due to many factors. For more information, please refer to Appendix B.

#### Other Sources of Funding

- The School of Graduate Studies provides some <u>travel support</u> for meetings or conferences when you present. These funds are matched by the Department of Geosciences or your advisor.
- The School of Graduate Studies, College of Science, Ecology Center, and other offices on campus offer grants and scholarships. These include:
  - Graduate Research and Creative Opportunity (GRCO) Grants from the School of Graduate Studies
  - Graduate Enhancement Awards from the Office of Student Involvement and Leadership
  - The Center for Intersectional Gender Studies and Research offers several grants and scholarships
  - The College of Science offers a couple scholarships, including the Claude E. ZoBell scholarship
  - The Ecology Center has funding for students enrolled and affiliated with the center
- Professional organizations, such as GSA, AAPG, SEPM, & Sigma Xi, and regional societies such as
  the Four Corners Geologic Society, Tobacco Root Geologic Society, and Colorado Scientific
  Society make competitive awards for thesis research. Grad students are encouraged to work with
  their advisors in seeking such support for their research. For more information, see Appendix B.
- The <u>National Science Foundation</u> (NSF) provides Graduate Research Fellowships that can provide significant and prestigious financial support for research. These are very competitive and must be applied for immediately, in the first semester of a program. NSF also has various Dissertation Research Enhancement grant opportunities for somewhat later in a PhD student's program.

# **GUIDELINES FOR GRADUATE TEACHING ASSISTANTS**

# **TA Assignments**

Teaching assignments will not be the same for all; some may end up teaching more lab sections than others. Assignments are made with deference to class schedule. Every attempt is made to keep assignments equitable.

USU 7920 is mandatory for all teaching assistants. Students must be registered before their funding will be processed. Teaching assistant training helps students who will be teaching prepare for their position as TA. This training is required for graduate students who have been awarded or are pursuing a teaching assistantship. This class is online and is offered every semester.

International students must also take the International Teaching Assistants Workshop IELI 7920, which is only offered at the beginning of fall semester.

Most of your 20 hours per week as a TA consists of lab preparation time, office hours to meet with students, and grading lab assignments. On occasion, other tasks may be assigned, such as proctoring and/or grading exams, and/or providing other services to the department. Faculty course instructors should inform their assigned TA(s), as well as their lecture sections, of the TA's responsibilities. You will be provided with a list of students registered for your lab section. Only those students on this list should be allowed in your lab and given lab materials. Any student not on a lab list must register for a lab section. Lab assignments or permission to add a lab section can be made only by the faculty instructor. You may allow an occasional student to attend your lab for make-up purposes, but it is important that you do not exceed the room capacity under any circumstances. If the make-up is for a student that is not from one of your labs, communicate fully with the student's regular TA.

#### Performance

As a teaching assistant, you are a representative of this department. Act responsibly and dress appropriately for the classroom. You have a contractual responsibility to arrive prepared and on time for all labs

Under no circumstances can the TA make the decision to cancel a scheduled lab. This is solely the responsibility of the supervision faculty instructor. If you must miss a lab, including for the purpose of a professional meeting, contact the faculty instructor well in advance to let them know about the situation. It is up to you to find a suitable replacement to teach your lab. Failure to meet an assigned lab without contacting the supervising faculty member could result in the loss of your Teaching Assistantship. Upon completion of your lab, erase the whiteboard, close any open windows, turn off the lights and projector, return any borrowed chairs to their proper place, and return all lab materials to their proper storage place. If the projection screen and shades were lowered, raise them. If you have the last lab for the day, please lock the door when finished.

#### **Sexual Misconduct Prevention Training**

All full-time, degree-seeking students at USU must complete <u>sexual misconduct prevention training</u> in fall 2023. This requirement does not apply to students who will not be taking classes until spring 2024. The training will be assigned to these students in January 2024. Students who do not complete this training by Oct. 30, 2023 will have a hold placed on their spring 2024 registration.

Teaching assistants are persons of authority in the classroom environment, and you are responsible for reporting incidents of sexual harassment to the faculty instructor and the Department Head immediately. Teaching assistants should not tolerate sexual harassment in their classrooms, including harassment between students.

Teaching assistants should not date or extensively socialize with students during the period in which they have grading or supervisory responsibilities over them.

#### Lab Materials

Most GEO 1115 (Physical Geology Lab) materials are stored in room GEOL 202. Materials borrowed from this room must be returned immediately after your lab so that other TAs will have access to them. In fact, you may be sharing lab materials with one or two other lab sections of other classes meeting at the same hour. In general, each rock and mineral set should be shared between two students. For example, taking 12 sets will cover a class of 22 students with one set for the TA.

The Geosciences Department has many impressive, large teaching specimens, stored in various places. You are encouraged to enrich your teaching by using these materials. Please inquire with the faculty instructor for the course about accessing these, and please return all specimens promptly.

All TAs are responsible for maintaining the integrity of the rock and mineral sets and map materials. If specimens have become sufficiently hand worm and dirty so that they are no longer representative or functional, they should be replaced. Check with the faculty instructor about finding appropriate replacement material before throwing anything away.

#### Safety in the Lab

You are expected to communicate to your students the reasonable precautions that must be taken in using lab facilities and materials.

For example. The glass pallet used to test for hardness should be placed firmly on the table and not held in the hand. Also, at the start of each semester, acid bottles should be rinsed, re-labeled if needed, and refilled from the large bottle stored in the fume hood in room GEOL 115. Use only those hydrochloric acid bottles that are labeled clearly to show the contents to be diluted hydrochloric acid. Caution students that acid should not be placed indiscriminately on every specimen; when it is used, it should be blotted off or rinsed off.

If there is any possibility that a student has gotten acid in the eyes, immediately take the student to the eye wash station. Having a wet floor is that last concern—slam the handle and turn the eye wash on full. The student should be taken to Student Health Services (Medical Building, north of the stadium) immediately after a thorough washing.

# YOU NEED TO KNOW

#### Notice of Non-discrimination

In its programs and activities, including in admissions and employment, Utah State University does not discriminate or tolerate discrimination, including harassment, based on race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, genetic information, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, disability, status as a protected veteran, or any other status protected by University policy, Title IX, or any other federal, state, or local law. The following individuals have been designated to handle inquiries regarding the application of Title IX and its implementing regulations and/or USU's non-discrimination policies:

Executive Director of the Office of Equity

Matt Pinner

Title IX Coordinator

Cody Carmichael

<u>matthew.pinner@usu.edu</u> <u>cody.carmichael@usu.edu</u>

Old Main Rm. 161 Old Main Rm. 161 435-797-1266 435-797-1266

For further information regarding non-discrimination, please visit https://equity.usu.edu/, or contact:

U.S. Department of Education U.S. Department of Education

Office of Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights Denver Regional Office

800-421-3481 303-844-5695

OCR@ed.gov OCR.Denver@ed.gov

# Rights to Data

The School of Graduate Studies requires the completion of "Authorship and Copyright" <u>paperwork</u> at the time of the Thesis defense. This form comes with the packet of materials for the defense, and it designates authorship, copyright restrictions, and ownership of the research results. Authorship of manuscripts for publication resulting from thesis research should be determined by mutual agreement between the student, the thesis advisor, and the student's graduate committee. We ask students to discuss authorship and ownership during their first year in residence in order to avoid confusion.

Graduate students may not automatically be considered first author of all publications resulting from their thesis research. Research is commonly a component of a larger project funded by their advisor and involving additional students and/or other professional colleagues.

Students may initiate a manuscript for publication, however circumstances may dictate that the student is unable to prepare a manuscript for publication in a timely fashion. Typically, submission of a manuscript to the advisor should occur no later than six months following completion of the degree program. If a manuscript is not forthcoming, the advisor may initiate the manuscript and/or may assume senior authorship.

Ownership of thesis-related research materials generally resides with the Department of Geosciences and/or the advisor. Representative rock samples and/or thin sections cited in a thesis should be left with the advisor or stored in the department thesis-specimen depository. Any thesis-related materials derived from externally-funded research projects must be retained by the advisor as the advisor is ultimately responsible to the funding agency.

If leaving residency before completion of all degree requirements, the student is required to deposit copies of pertinent thesis research documents (field notes, field maps, cross sections, thesis drafts, etc.) with the advisor.

#### Intellectual Property

Students who switch to a different advisor should expect to work on a different project after changing advisors. Research projects are rarely the intellectual property of a student.

#### **Conflict Resolution**

The Department of Geosciences has a well-deserved reputation for being a cordial environment. Unfortunately, disagreements between student and their advisors sometimes occur. The following is an attempt to clarify the procedure that should be followed in these circumstances. Please note that all parties involved in a conflict have an obligation to communicate about problems or potential problems early on and to actively work toward their resolution.

- 1. Issues of concern must be discussed by the student and the student's advisor and then, if necessary, with the student's thesis committee. Advisors and the thesis committees are likely to be in the best position to evaluate the technical aspects of the research project.
- 2. If problems still exist *after* discussions with their advisor and committee, the student should speak with the Faculty Graduate Committee. In this capacity, the Faculty Graduate Committee will try to be fair and listen (separately) to both sides of the disagreement and will then try to mediate an agreement between both parties.
- 3. If the Faculty Graduate Committee is unsuccessful in mediating the situation, the issues go to the Department Head, who will make a recommendation to both student and advisor/committee.
- 4. As a last resort, a student can go to the Dean of the School of Graduate Studies and request his/her intervention, as outlined in the "Code of Policies and Procedures for Students at Utah State University". Hopefully, any situation that develops within our department can be resolved before this step is called for.

#### Leave of Absence

The School of Graduate Studies requires that students submit a Leave of Absence/Continuous Registration form if there will be an extended absence. Extended leaves result in a fee upon registration.

# GEOSCIENCES CODE OF CONDUCT 1,2

Preamble: Geoscientists play a critical role in ethical stewardship of the Earth, the understanding and use of Earth's resources, and the interactions between society and the Earth System. Geoscientists must earn the public's trust and maintain confidence in the work of individual scientists and the geosciences as a profession. To do so, we must engage with diverse populations and perspectives and do so with patience, humility, and respect. Our goal is to foster a departmental environment of equitable treatment, inclusivity, and mutual respect, and to promote a safe and healthy environment for students and employees.

Associates of the Department of Geosciences adhere to the following code of conduct:

We communicate with honesty and transparency, act responsibly and with integrity, and present work without falsification or fabrication of data, misleading statements, or omission of facts.

We accurately cite authorship, acknowledge the scientific and material contributions of others, and do not plagiarize.

Our goal is to foster an environment of mutual respect and safety in the workplace as well as in classes, labs, fieldwork, and social events, especially when in a position of power or involving underrepresented groups. In order to reach this goal, we strive to:

- listen to others' perspectives, seek to understand them, learn different sides of arguments before passing judgement, and conduct ourselves in a professional manner even when it is not reciprocated.
- understand and respect people's similarities and differences in race, nationality, religion, culture, age, disability, gender identity and expression, and appearance.
- be an upstander who recognizes and acts to safely and effectively diffuse situations or intervene when witnessing harassment or discrimination against others.

We understand that interactions with communities outside our department must be responsible and inclusive. We are sensitive to imbalances of power and the potential impacts our actions may have in those communities or the environment in which we work.

We are cognizant of degrading interactions, unwanted contact, and potential unwarranted communications, such as disrespectful comments, interrupting, hurtful sarcasm, passive-aggressive phrasing, intimidation, retaliation, offensive language, and innuendo.

We recognize our responsibility to report instances of harassment, bullying, discrimination, or safety violation in the workplace, classroom, or field to our supervisor.

<sup>1</sup>Drawn partly from examples of USU Biology Dept, AGI, GSA, AGU codes, and the Forum on Education Abroad.

<sup>2</sup>This ties to Articles V, VI, and VII of the USU Student Code: <a href="https://studentconduct.usu.edu/studentcode/">https://studentconduct.usu.edu/studentcode/</a>

# UTAH STATE UNIVERSITY, DEPARTMENT OF GEOSCIENCES

**GRADUATE HANDBOOK AND POLICIES** 

# MASTER OF SCIENCE (GEOLOGY) PROGRAM

#### **MS Program Description**

The Geology MS involves advanced study and has a focus on original research. There are seven specializations with the Geology plan-A graduate programs: 1] Geomorphology and Earth Surface Processes; 2] Geophysics; 3] Hydrogeology; 4] Petrology and Geochemistry; 5] Sedimentology and Paleoecology; 6] Structure and Tectonics; and 7] Climate Adaptation Science.

Only the Plan A thesis option is allowed for the MS degree in Geology. Program Prerequisite: Completion of a BS or BA in geology, biology, physics, chemistry, engineering, or related field is required for matriculated status.

Although advanced courses should be selected primarily from Geology offerings, additional courses may be selected from other departments on campus relating to the Geosciences, such as Biology, Civil and Environmental Engineering, Mathematics and Statistics, Plants, Soils, and Climate, and Watershed Sciences.

# **Credit and Registration Requirements**

30 credits of graduate work are required for the MS degree, with at least 15 credits of coursework. The recommended distribution is ~20 credits of coursework and ~10 credits of thesis. At least 9 to 15 credits of 6000-level geoscience courses are recommended for the degree program.

A 3.0 grade point average must be obtained in required coursework as listed on the Program of Study [POS]. Only two grades of less than B [C to B-] will be accepted as part of the required degree program as listed on the Program of Study. Thesis and some seminar credits will be graded Pass/Fail only (i.e., no letter grade will be given).

Appointment as a Teaching Assistant/Research Assistant requires 6 credits per semester until the coursework on the POC are completed. After that point, and if graduate students are using department or university facilities and/or under Geosciences faculty supervision, there is a 3-credit minimum enrollment. If a student whishes to maintain full-time status to continue deferring repayment of student loans or to remain in compliance with visa requirements, they either need to enroll in 6 or more credits or enroll in 3 credits and complete the <u>full-time 3 credit form</u>.

The Graduate Catalog currently states that a student must be registered for at least 1 credit the semester of a thesis/dissertation defense. If a student has not completed all degree requirements by the end of the grace semester, the student must pay a \$100 Late Completion Fee for each semester following the grace semester. Keep in mind that if a student is registered for only one credit, the student will NOT be considered full time. If working with faculty involves more than routine submission of the thesis or dissertation to the assistant dean, registration for 3 or more credits is required.

The university requires students to be registered if they use the library and buildings.

Registration is not required during the summer.

#### **Coursework Prerequisites**

Individual students may need to complete specific undergraduate coursework to prepare for their graduate program. In particular, these seven courses:

- 1) Introductory or Physical Geology with laboratory
- 2) Minerals and Rocks (Earth Materials)
- 3) Historical Geology
- 4) Sedimentation and Stratigraphy
- 5) Geomorphology
- 6) Structural Geology
- 7) Field Methods or experience

Decisions about any exceptions to these core prerequisites in a student's graduate program are made by a student's Advisory Committee in their first meeting. These undergraduate Geology courses cannot appear on the graduate Program of Study, nor can they be officially audited. Thus, completion of these prerequisites generally will be accomplished through lecture attendance and the passing of the regular exams in the courses.

#### MS Time Line

MS students should plan on finishing their degree program in two years. Logistics associated with field work may extend the time line somewhat. Maintaining matriculated status after three years is at the discretion of the primary advisor and Faculty Graduate Committee, based upon satisfactory progress.

The School of Graduate Studies will only cover costs of nonresident tuition for the first academic year of your graduate program. Utah residency must be completed prior to the second academic year. If residency isn't established by the start of the second academic year, student will be responsible for nonresident portion of tuition.

The School of Graduate Studies has a 6-year limit for MS degree completion. Beyond this time, a student would need to re-apply to the program. Furthermore, after 8 years, coursework is retired and cannot be used towards a degree program without being recertified.

Graduate student research is commonly funded by agencies that require timely acquisition, analysis, and reporting of results. Students who fail to fulfill their funded research obligations in a timely, professional and satisfactory manner may be removed from the overall research project at the discretion of their academic advisor.

The following is a semester-by-semester timeline to be used as a guide for completing the Geology MS degree program in two years. Please also refer to the School of Graduate Studies "<u>Steps to Degree</u> <u>Completion</u>" page. Delaying off this schedule makes it very difficult to finish in two years:

#### Fall Semester, Year One

Meet early and often with advisor to define a research project.
Discuss expectations of the Geosciences Department for graduate students with advisor after
reviewing it. Sign the Geosciences Department Expectations Form upon completion.
Submit signed Expectations & Mentorship Agreement Form to Grad Program Coordinator for
department records.
Establish thesis committee, submit Supervisory Committee Approval form.

Have first thesis committee meeting, focused on your Program of Study and any prerequisitesComplete Program of Study for Master's Degree form with committee and submit to Grad Program Coordinator, who will forward it to the School of Graduate Studies.
Apply for funding for student grants (see Appendix B). Be sure to verify deadlines well ahead of time.
<u>Spring Semester, Year One</u>
Apply for research grant opportunities, if appropriate.
Write and revise Thesis Proposal draft with advisor mentoring; submit refined draft to committee Submit Thesis Project Approval form.
Complete Thesis Proposal. Get committee signatures of approval on the form.
Discuss authorship and copyright questions with advisor before beginning research.
Complete and sign Authorship and Copyright form (see Appendix A).
Examine copyright form and discuss with advisor (see Appendix A). Do not sign until defense.
Complete the College of Science annual <u>IDP self-evaluation</u> process.
Complete the Geosciences department's annual Progress/Self-Evaluation Form with advisor & committee.
Sign and submit a digital copy of Progress/Self-Evaluation Form with Grad Program Coordinator upor
completion.
Summer Semester, Year One
Communicate regularly and meet with your Advisor, when possible.
Conduct thesis research. Apply for residency in the State of Utah, if not a resident.
Register for minimum coursework required at the time (this varies).
Fall Semester, Year Two
Continue research and begin writing thesis.
Make 15-minute presentation during Speaker Series or at a professional meeting (poster presentation
do not count for this).
Hold committee meeting to appraise progress and discuss timeline for degree completion.
Spring Semester, Year Two
Complete writing of thesis. Submit refined draft to committee and allow 2 weeks' time for review.
When approved by committee members, this becomes the "defense copy" of the thesis.
With committee approval and signatures regarding timing, submit Appointment for Examination form
to School of Graduate Studies. Forms must be submitted 2 weeks prior to the defense date requested
Successfully defend thesis. Graduate student must be registered for at least 1 thesis credit during the
semester of defense.
Make defense corrections to thesis.
Submit Title Page form.
Submit committee-approved thesis to School of Graduate Studies for copy and format
editing, along with the Authorship and Copyright and Format and Style forms.
Complete the Geosciences department's annual Progress Form with advisor/committee (if the committee has a draft of the thesis; this form is not required).
Sign and submit a digital copy of Progress Form with Grad Program Coordinator upon completion.

#### Summer Semester, Year Two

- \_\_\_Make School of Graduate Studies edits.
- \_\_\_Apply for Graduation. Submit "Graduation Check Request" & "Application for Graduation" forms to School of Graduate Studies.

#### If Thesis Not Complete in Second Year

- \_\_\_\_If all degree requirements are not completed by the end of the semester following the defense, then student must register for at least 1 credit the semester the final thesis is submitted. If not completed within one year of defense, thesis must be re-defended.
- \_\_\_Continue to make presentations to department or at a professional meeting once per academic year.
- \_\_\_Matriculated status may be changed to "non-matriculated" after three years, at discretion of academic advisor and Faculty Graduate Committee and based upon satisfactory progress.

#### MS THESIS COMMITTEE

Students are encouraged to establish their committees as soon as possible during their first semester, but the thesis committee must be established no later than the middle of the student's second semester on campus.

In consultation with advisor, select 2 or perhaps 3 other committee members, with one being from "outside" the topical specialty of your thesis. Two of the overall committee members must be from Geosciences (including Emeritus faculty) or other USU departments. One member can be from another institution, such as those with an adjunct appointment in Geosciences Department.

Faculty should be consulted about serving on the committee and their consent obtained. Complete the Supervisory Committee Approval form with all required signatures and submit it to the Grad Program Coordinator who will forward the form to the School of Graduate Studies. Advisor will need to ok this beforehand.

The thesis committee provides input in the process of course selection and thesis proposal construction. Once thesis research has been initiated, it is recommended that graduate students meet with their committee at least once a semester to discuss progress, problems, or deviations from the original thesis proposal.

At least one thesis committee meeting must be held within the regular nine-month academic year. At this meeting, the committee will evaluate progress toward completion of degree requirements. Failure of the graduate student to convene at least one thesis committee meeting within the regular nine-month academic year will be interpreted as a sign of unsatisfactory progress.

No changes in committee membership are permitted within six weeks of the thesis defense - this is requirement of the School of Graduate Studies.

#### THE MS PROGRAM OF STUDY AND COURSES

Once a thesis committee has been approved by the School of Graduate Studies, the graduate student should then meet with the advisor and committee members to determine and fill out a Program of Study for Master's Degree form, laying out a course of study appropriate for the intended thesis research. 
[https://gradschool.usu.edu/program-study] Once filled in, graduate student must notify by email the Grad Program Coordinator who checks them and forwards them on to be digitally signed and completed through the School of Graduate Studies.

MS students will not be allowed to receive Teaching Assistant support or in-state tuition waivers in their second academic year until the Program of Study is signed and filed at the School of Graduate Studies.

After the description at the top of the form in DegreeWorks, you should type in your research specialization. Remember, the Geology MS degrees have six specializations: 1) Geomorphology and Earth Surface Processes; 2) Geophysics; 3) Hydrogeology; 4) Petrology and Geochemistry; 5) Sedimentology and Paleoecology; and 6) Structure and Tectonics.

The Program of Study represents a contract. If changes must be made later during the course of study, the form must be updated for the School of Graduate Studies or graduate student will not be able to graduate. This requires that advisor to approve the changes and have the Grad Program Coordinator send a memo to the School of Graduate Studies.

#### **Distribution of Credits**

- The recommended balance for the required 30 credits is about 20 credits of coursework and 10 credits of Thesis research. After the 30 credits are complete, any remaining credits until graduation must be Continuing Grad Advisement (GEO 6990).
- A typical summer industry internship at the MS level equates to 3 credits of Internship/Co-op Experience (GEO 6900)
- It is recommended that MS students take at least three, and preferably five, 6000-level courses to broaden their understanding of the various disciplines within geology and to ensure exposure to areas other than those directly related to their thesis research.
- No more than 12 credits of 5000-5999 level coursework may be used for a graduate degree.
- No more than 3 credits of 3000-4999 level courses may be applied toward the degree. These 3000-4999 level credits must be from outside your major area.
- You may not include the credit received for the TA training course (INST 7920) toward your MS degree.
- Following USU Grad Studies residency requirements, no more than 12 credits can be transferred from another institution. They must not have been used towards another degree.
- After the required credits for your Program of Study are complete, any remaining credits until graduation (1 credit are required the semester you defend) must be Continuing Grad Advisement (GEO 6990). These are not included in the Program of Study.
- In the summer, after a grace period of 21 days, graduate student will lose access to the library, some IT, and sports facilities. <a href="https://usu.service-now.com/usu/knowledge.do?sysparm\_document\_key=kb\_knowledge.97572cce3dc16100496ec6">https://usu.service-now.com/usu/knowledge.do?sysparm\_document\_key=kb\_knowledge.97572cce3dc16100496ec6</a>
   4aa561119c
  - If you need this access, please register for courses the following fall to keep your status active. If you have completed all your coursework, sign up for 1 credit of GEO 6990/7990 "Continuing Grad Advisement".
  - o If this approach does not work, then certain fees must be paid up front for the summer. Graduate student will need to request that the specific fees that are required for the work be added. The Department will pay these fees. Please let the Graduate Committee, advisor, Grad Program Coordinator, and Department Head.

#### **Grades and GPA**

Only two grades of less than "B" (e.g. "B-" to "C") will be accepted as part of the required degree program as listed on the Program of Study. The School of Graduate Studies will not accept "D" grades. An overall 3.0 GPA must be obtained on required course work as listed on the Program of Study.

If graduate student falls below a 3.0 GPA, the School of Graduate Studies will place student on probation, and they cannot receive financial aid or TA funding. Student will have one semester to raise GPA and retain matriculated status.

Thesis research credits will be graded Pass/Fail only and are listed as Incomplete each semester they are taken. When degree program is complete, they are changed to Pass.

Only the pertinent member of the Faculty Graduate Committee can change these thesis-credit incompletes, as their "instructor of record". Before changing the incompletes to Pass, the Faculty Graduate Committee must see and sign the "Exit Form for Graduate Students", ensuring that any departmental equipment is checked back in, USU keys are returned, and etc.

#### MONITORING AND EVALUATION OF MS STUDENT PROGRESS

It is in the best interest of the student, advisor, and department to see that Master's degrees are completed in a timely manner. Continuing TA support, tuition waivers, and other forms of financial support for students are contingent upon satisfactory progress towards the degree.

Review will be an ongoing process, and evidence of satisfactory progress includes:

- a) annual committee meetings (minimum)
- b) completion of the Program of Study
- c) thesis proposal
- d) annual presentations
- e) efforts in obtaining grant funding
- f) performance in graduate coursework

Unsatisfactory progress may be indicated through:

- a) failure to follow the graduate student time line presented above
- b) unsatisfactory GPA and academic probation
- c) your rate of progress in coursework
- d) lack of thesis committee meetings
- e) failure to make satisfactory progress on thesis research

If unsatisfactory performance is perceived by the thesis research advisor or Faculty Graduate Committee, the Faculty Graduate Committee will speak with the student and, if necessary, thesis committee. The Faculty Graduate Committee will then write a memo of notification regarding unsatisfactory progress for the student's file and provide the student and advisor with copies.

If, over the semester following the above notification, the student continues to make unsatisfactory progress toward the degree (as determined by the advisor, thesis committee and Geology Faculty Graduate Committee), the student will be placed in non-matriculated status and the School of Graduate Studies will be notified. This ends the student's participation in the Geology Graduate Program.

#### THE MS THESIS PROPOSAL

After deciding upon a particular research topic, the next step is to write a Thesis proposal. This should be completed as soon as possible. Creation of the Thesis proposal will help to focus and organize the research project, and the Thesis committee will be able to provide input during the writing and review stages of the proposal.

If the student and committee are in agreement, then the originally outlined project may be modified.

When the proposal is complete and the committee is ready to approve it, then the student must complete the Master's Proposal Approval Form, which is sent around for signatures: https://gradschool.usu.edu/masters-thesis-project-approval/

Please provide the Geosciences Grad Program Coordinator with a digital copy for your department file.

#### **Format**

- The body of the MS thesis proposal should consist of approximately 20 pages of double-spaced text.
- Work with your major advisor with regards to the content and format of the proposal. A suggested proposal outline and content is as follows:
  - 1) INTRODUCTION
    - a) Project goals/hypotheses
    - b) Significance
  - 2) BACKGROUND
    - al Setting
    - b) Previous work—topical and regional literature review
  - 3) METHODS
    - a) Field, laboratory, computational
    - b) Data analysis and synthesis
  - 4) RESULTS (so far or anticipated)
  - 5) SCHEDULE--semester-by-semester plan for completion
  - 6) SUMMARY-- comments about important and feasibility of the project
  - 7) REFERENCES--Include only those papers cited in the body of your proposal.
- Use the School of Graduate School format and style guide: https://gradschool.usu.edu/files/Publication-Guide-2023.pdf
- In consultation with advisor, choose a geoscience journal whose format that can be followed with respect to citations. Geological Society of America publications are our default standard for style, and a style guide is available from them:
  - https://www.geosociety.org/GSA/Publications/Info\_Services/Author\_Info/
- When questions arise regarding style and format, discuss them with your major advisor or the GPC.

# Thesis Info

- Remember, the Thesis proposal is just that, a proposal. Do not attempt to write your entire Thesis at this time.
  - Communication between student, advisor, and thesis committee will help things to go more smoothly.
  - A key goal is to show that student has proficiency in the topic and techniques, knows why
    the work is important, and is prepared to do the work.

- In addition to a regular scientific abstract for your Thesis, USU now requires a "public abstract" as well. This is a non-technical summary of the work that can be read and understood by non-specialists. This is a skill that is increasingly important in the sciences.
- Tables and figures may need to be reduced but captions must remain full size and have the same size/style of print as the text.
- All section headings, figure and table captions, and plate titles must agree verbatim with the lists of same in the front of the thesis.
- Only references cited in the text should appear in the list of references. If a reference is important enough to list, it should be cited somewhere in the text.

#### ROLE OF THE ADVISOR AND THESIS COMMITTEE

Frequent communication with advisor is critical in structuring the thesis document.

Their role is to evaluate the methods, logic, synthesis of data, and conclusions.

Preliminary drafts should be reviewed by the thesis advisor, not by the entire committee.

Once the thesis draft is in reasonable form, and with the advisor's consent, the draft should then be reviewed by all committee members. This draft is not the defense copy.

Upon approving a thesis draft for defense, Thesis committee members, including the advisor, should be allowed at least two weeks for review of the draft. Committee members may refuse to review theses when other departmental or professional obligations conflict with a timely review.

Once approved by the committee, this becomes the defense copy. This version will not be returned to the candidate nor will any further changes be made in the thesis document by the candidate until after the defense. The committee must have the defense copy of the thesis at least two weeks prior to the defense. If there are photos, large plates, or appendices not quite ready for expensive duplication, at least one copy should be made available to the committee for the two-week period prior to the defense.

#### **DEFENSE PREPARATION AND SCHEDULING**

The thesis defense is often viewed as the last major hurdle on the path to receiving the MS degree. The length of student's public presentation of the research should be about 30-40 minutes. This leaves time for set up and questions afterwards, while still fitting within the 50-minute classroom timeslot that many attendees will have available.

- Student is responsible for scheduling their thesis defense with the School of Graduate Studies after approval of their advisor and consultation with their committee.
- Remember that all committee members must have read the thesis before agreeing to schedule the defense.
- Scheduling requires paper work and signatures.

Multiple copies of theses, either defense copies or final versions, should not be run off on Department of Geosciences printers and photocopiers.

#### COMPLETION OF THE DEGREE AND BINDING

After the Thesis signature page is signed by the committee, the process is turned over to the School of Graduate Studies. Consult their webpage and materials to determine current practices are for scheduling and reviewing theses, gaining the Dean of Graduate Studies signature, and graduating.

Regarding binding your thesis, the USU Library's policies have shifted away from requiring hardcopies. The Department of Geosciences still requests one bound copy, many advisors request one, and you may want a hardcopy yourself. The library still provides a binding service as needed [https://library.usu.edu/services/theses\_dissertations/index].

# UTAH STATE UNIVERSITY, DEPARTMENT OF GEOLOGY GRADUATE HANDBOOK AND POLICIES

# APPLIED ENVIRONMENTAL GEOSCIENCE (MS-AEG) PROGRAM

#### MS-AEG PROGRAM DESCRIPTION AND REQUIREMENTS

The Applied Environmental Geoscience MS degree is a professional/terminal degree program, requiring a combination of advanced courses selected from the Department of Geosciences, as well as additional courses relating broadly to the Geosciences. The MS-AEG degree is offered both through USU's Statewide Campuses and Distance Education program: <a href="mailto:statewide.usu.edu/">statewide.usu.edu/</a> <a href="https://online.usu.edu/">https://online.usu.edu/</a>

This non-Thesis MS degree is coursework based and requires a short research project and report. The MS-AEG report is usually based on a short guided research project or review and analysis of published data. The summary and conclusions developed should enhance knowledge in the discipline. The scope of MS-AEG research should be limited to 1-2 semesters of directed research. MS-AEG reports should follow the same format outlines as MS theses and are expected to reflect similar scholarship standards, even though their research scope may be narrower and they do not require original research as does a Plan A thesis. MS-AEG reports are defended, but are not reviewed by the School of Graduate Studies assistant dean or signed by the graduate dean.

MS-AEG students are rarely eligible for Departmental graduate assistantships or nonresident and instate tuition waivers. However, students from an interior-western state, may be eligible for a waiver of your nonresident tuition through the Western Regional Graduate Program (<a href="https://gradschool.usu.edu/wrgp">https://gradschool.usu.edu/wrgp</a>). MS-AEG students are eligible to apply for alumni-funded named scholarships and fellowships from the Department of Geosciences, as well as the University. Students are encouraged to apply for grants and other funding from USU, the Graduate school and other non-USU funding agencies and programs.

#### **Program Prerequisite**

Bachelor's degree in the geosciences or related science discipline.

# **Coursework Prerequisites**

Students from non-geology backgrounds may needed to take additional Geoscience courses to prepare them for their graduate program. Although not a strict admission requirement, MS-AEG students are expected to have 4 of these 7 core classes:

- Introductory or Physical Geology with laboratory
- Minerals and Rocks (Earth Materials)
- Historical Geology (Earth through Time)
- Sedimentation and Stratigraphy
- Geomorphology
- Structural Geology
- Field Methods or experience

Decisions about any exceptions to these core prerequisites are made by the student's Advisory Committee during their first meeting. These undergraduate Geosciences courses cannot appear on the graduate Program of Study, nor can they be officially audited. Thus, completion of these prerequisites generally will be accomplished through lecture attendance and passing the regular exams in the courses.

#### Requirements

32 credits of graduate-level courses are required for the MS-AEG, distributed within 29-30 credits of coursework and 2-3 credits of graduate research (GEO 6970). Up to 12 non-USU transfer credits may be applied, if not utilized for a different degree. Specific coursework making up the Program of Study will be decided by the student's Advising Committee and customized based on the student's interest, career goals and deficiencies. Specific coursework requirements should include a mix of courses outside of the Geoscience Department and at least 3-5 courses within the Department. For utilitarian purposes of completing the required credits, Logan-campus students can register for the department's weekly Distinguished Lecturer Series (GEO 6820) for 1-credit once during their graduate program.

No more than 12 credits at the 5000-5999 level or 3 credits at the 3000-49999 level can be used for a graduate degree. Graduate students using Department or University facilities and/or under geology faculty supervision must register for a minimum of 1-3 credits every semester, up to and including the semester in which their report is defended and turned into the Department and School of Graduate Studies. Registration may not be required during the summer.

The registration requirements and GPA criteria for the AEG MS degree are the same as those for the Geology MS degree program. Only two grades of less than B (C to B-) will be accepted as part of the required degree program. A 3.0 grade point average must be obtained in the required coursework listed on the Program of Study. Thesis (MS-AEG report) credits will be graded P-F only (i.e., no letter grade will be given).

For students accepted into the Distance Education AEG-MS program, a more prescribed list of suggested courses that are available from the RCDE program: <a href="https://statewide.usu.edu/degrees/index.cfm">https://statewide.usu.edu/degrees/index.cfm</a>

#### **AEG-MS PROGRAM OF STUDY AND COURSES**

Once a Graduate Advising Committee has been approved by the School of Graduate Studies, the graduate student should then meet with the advisor and committee members to determine a course of study appropriate for the intended thesis research, and fill out the "Program of Study for Master's Degree." This form must be delivered to the Graduate Program Coordinator who will forward it to the School of Graduate Studies. This document and the associated signature page are completed in DegreeWorks within USU's Banner system—follow the instructions on the Grad School's website! Once filled in, you must notify by email the Graduate Program Coordinator who checks them and forwards them on to be digitally signed and completed through the School of Graduate Studies.

The Program of Study represents an agreement—stick with it. If you must make changes later during the course of study, the form must be updated for Office of Research and Graduate studies or you will not be able to graduate. This requires that your advisor and the Geology Grad Program Coordinator approve the changes and send a memo to the School of Graduate Studies.

#### AEG TIME LINE (for completion in 1-2 years)

The AEG MS program in Geology is designed to be completed in two to four semesters (no more than two academic years). Maintaining matriculated status (i.e. within the degree program) after three years is at the discretion of the primary advisor and Faculty Graduate Committee, based upon satisfactory progress (see section below).

The School of Graduate Studies has a 6-year limit for MS degree completion. Beyond this time, one would need to re-apply to the program. Furthermore, after 8 years, coursework is retired and cannot be used towards a degree program without being recertified.

<u>Fall Semester, Year One</u>
Meet early and often with your advisor to define a focus for coursework and Report.
Discuss expectations of the Geosciences Department for graduate students with your advisor. Submit
the signed Expectations Form to Grad Program Coordinator upon completion.
Establish a Graduate Advising Committee, submit Grad School's Supervisory Committee Approval
form to Grad Program Coordinator.
Have first graduate advising committee meeting to discuss your Program of Study and any prereqs.
Complete Program of Study for Master's Degree form with committee and submit to Grad Program
Coordinator.
Discuss with your Advisor and Committee if your project will require a ~5 page Research Prospectus
where you outline your proposed research project goals and review background literature
Discuss authorship and copyright questions with your advisor before beginning your research and
sign Authorship & Copyright form <a href="https://gradschool.usu.edu/authorship/">https://gradschool.usu.edu/authorship/</a>
Apply for funding from student grants if appropriate for your report and work. This application
process starts in the late fall and concludes in the early spring.
<u>Spring Semester, Year One</u>
Focus on completing coursework
Submit your Research Prospectus (pending on Advisor/committee recommendations) to your
Advising Committee for edits, complete edits, and get approval of your prospectus
Complete the Geology department's annual Progress Form with your advisor & committee and submit
a digital copy to the Grad Program Coordinator upon completion.
Start work on your research project.
Begin writing the introduction and methods for your report.
Have committee meeting to appraise progress and discuss timeline for degree completion.
Summer Semester, Year One
Apply for residency in the state of Utah (if applicable).
Complete research project.
Complete writing of Report. Submit refined draft to committee and allow 2 weeks' time for review.
When approved by committee members, this becomes the "defense copy" of your report.
With committee approval and signatures regarding timing, submit Appointment for Examination
[Nonthesis/Plan B] form to School of Graduate Studies 2 weeks prior to the defense date requested.
Defend Report. You must be registered for 1 thesis credit the semester that you defend.
Complete defense corrections to Report and gain committee and Department Head signatures.
Submit your Project Report to the Merrill-Cazier library.
[https://gradschool.usu.edu/resources/all-forms/planb-creative-project]
Apply for Graduation. Submit "Graduation Check Request" and "Application for Graduation" Forms to
School of Graduate Studies.
<u>Fall Semester, Year Two</u>
Complete any unfinished items listed above

#### Spring Semester, Year Two

\_\_\_ Complete any unfinished items listed above.

#### **MS-AEG Prospectus and Report**

The MS-AEG degree is a coursework based professional Masters degree and is different from the MS-Geology degree. The MS-AEG report is usually based on a short guided research project or a literature review and analysis of published data. While shorter in duration and written length, the MS-AEG report should reflect the same level of scholarship as the MS-Geology thesis.

Note that the School of Graduate Studies Master's Project Approval form is NOT required by Geoscience or conducted for the AEG-MS.

#### **Prospectus**

(requirement dependent on Advisor and Committee discretion)

Your prospectus should be completed in the first year of your graduate program. The prospectus is expected to be about 5 pages in length, double spaced, and briefly describes the problem, background, methods, and analysis you will employ. The audience it is written for is your thesis advisory committee.

#### Report

The School of Graduate Studies states that the Plan B Master's report, "... is usually a review of literature with conclusions drawn after conceptualizing an area of inquiry, planning a systematic search, and analyzing and critiquing the acquired information. The summary and conclusions developed should enhance knowledge in the discipline."

From the Department of Geoscience's perspective, in addition to:

- a) a literature review; and
- b) the identification of a scientific problem;

AEG Reports should:

- c) report scientific data; and
- d) provide some analysis of those data.

The data may be newly gathered by the student, or compiled from previous work into a coherent dataset. The analysis may, for example, be a first-order investigation of the trends or statistics of the dataset, especially utilizing computational tools.

Although not strictly required for the AEG-MS, go to the School of Graduate Studies forms webpage, and follow the current version of their Thesis Format and Style Guide.

# COMPLETION OF THE DEGREE AND BINDING

After your Report is approved by your advisory committee, complete your degree following the information provided by the School of Graduate Studies: <a href="https://online.usu.edu/degrees/">https://online.usu.edu/degrees/</a>

Note that the School of Graduate Studies does not edit, sign, or require a copy of your Report.

Regarding binding your Report, the USU library's policies are shifting away from requiring hardcopies. The Department of Geosciences still requests one bound copy, many advisors request one, and you may want a hardcopy yourself. The library still provides a binding service as needed https://library.usu.edu/services/theses\_dissertations/index.

# Utah State University, Department of Geosciences Graduate Handbook and Policies

# DOCTORATE OF PHILOSOPHY (GEOLOGY PHD) PROGRAM

#### PHD PROGRAM DESCRIPTION AND REQUIREMENTS

The Doctorate of Philosophy in Geology requires original research in a specific area of geosciences. The successful candidate must demonstrate a breadth of understanding in geosciences, as well as a depth of understanding in his or her chosen area(s) of emphasis. Dissertation research should be carried out over a significant period of time (i.e., at least one year or three semesters in residence). This significant and original research must be presented in a written dissertation and defended in an oral examination. This work should be of such scope and quality that more than one journal or conference articles can be derived from it.

There are two program tracks for the PhD in Geology: academic and professional. The academic track is designed to prepare graduates for a career in academia or other teaching-related settings; it includes classroom teaching experience under the supervision of a faculty teaching mentor. The professional track is designed to prepare graduates for work in professional careers within extractive or environmental industries. It may include computational coursework relating to information systems or spatial analysis, and completion of an industry internship is encouraged.

Besides these two tracks, the PhD in Geology also shares the seven specializations of the Geosciences MS graduate programs: 1) Geomorphology and Earth Surface Processes; 2) Geophysics; 3) Hydro-Geosciences; 4) Petrology and Geochemistry; 5) Sedimentology and Paleoecology; 6) Structure and Tectonics; and 7) Climate Adaptation Science.

# **Credit and Registration Requirements**

Appointment as a Teaching Assistant/Research Assistant requires 6 credits per semester until the coursework on "Program of Study" are complete. After that point and if Graduate students are using Department or University facilities and/or under Geosciences faculty supervision, there is a 3-credit minimum enrollment that may be satisfied by registering for GEOL 7990, Continuing Graduate Advisement. If a student wishes to maintain full-time status to continue deferring repayment of student loans or to remain in compliance with vis requirements, they either need to enroll in 6 or more credits or enroll in 3 credits and complete the Full-time at 3 credits form.

The Graduate Catalog currently states that a student must be registered for at least 1 credit the semester of a thesis/dissertation defense. "If a student has not completed all degree requirements by the end of the grace semester, the student must pay a \$100 Late Completion Fee for each semester following the grace semester. Keep in mind that if a student is registered for only one credit, the student will NOT be considered full time. If working with faculty involves more than routine submission of the thesis or dissertation to the assistant dean, registration for 3 or more credits is required." The university requires students to be registered, if they use the library and buildings; however, registration is not required during the summer.

Graduate students completing a PhD in Geology must fulfill the following requirements: Complete:

 at least 42 credits beyond your M.S. (including at least 15 credits of GEO 7970 dissertation/research)

- if entering with only a B.S., complete 72 credits of graduate coursework (including at least 21 credits of GEO 7970 dissertation/research).
- Each course must be completed with a minimum grade of B, and you must maintain a minimum cumulative GPA of 3.3.

#### Academic Track:

- Successfully teach one Geosciences course under the supervision of a faculty mentor, typically receiving 6 teaching internship (GEO 6900) credits.
- Coursework in pedagogy may be pursued, as approved by graduate student's dissertation committee.

#### Professional Track:

- Completion of professional internship program is encouraged, typically receiving 6 coop/internship (GEO 6900) credits.
- Coursework developing computational skills may be pursued, as approved by graduate student's dissertation committee.
- Pass a written comprehensive examination showing depth and breadth of knowledge in Geosciences and the graduate student's area(s) of emphasis. The graduate student may be required to take additional classes to satisfy any conditions for passing the exam.
- Successfully complete a written dissertation research proposal and defend it during an oral comprehensive examination.
- The oral comprehensive exam will include questions of a deep and probing nature, and may range beyond the specialization of the dissertation proposal.
- Successfully complete and defend a written dissertation. The dissertation document may consist of several papers submitted or to be submitted for publication.
- The defense will be oral, including a public presentation of the work and successful closed-door defense to the faculty committee.
- If the candidate has not demonstrated adequate knowledge of a topic through the examination, the committee may require that specific conditions be met before completion of the examination, such as coursework or the retaking of the examination at a later time. If two or more committee members vote not pass, the committee may in its summary evaluation vote not pass, and the graduate student's program will be terminated.

#### **Coursework Prerequisites**

Individual graduate students may need to complete specific undergraduate coursework to prepare them for their graduate program. In particular, these seven courses:

- 1) Introductory or Physical Geology with laboratory
- 2) Minerals and Rocks (Earth Materials)
- 3) Historical Geology
- 4) Sedimentation and Stratigraphy
- 5) Geomorphology
- 6) Structural Geology
- 7) Field Methods or experience

Decisions about any exceptions to these core prerequisites in a graduate student's program are made by a graduate student's Advisory Committee in their first meeting. Furthermore, the Exam 1 Written

comprehensive examination (see below) exists partly to help identify background coursework needs. These undergraduate Geosciences courses cannot appear on the graduate Program of Study, nor can they be officially audited. Thus, completion of these prerequisites generally will be accomplished through lecture attendance and the passing of the regular exams in the courses.

#### PHD TIME LINE

Graduate students who have already completed a MS degree should plan on finishing their PhD program in 3 to 4 years. Maintaining matriculated status after five years beyond the Master's degree is at the discretion of the primary advisor and Faculty Graduate Committee, based upon satisfactory progress.

The School of Graduate Studies has an 8-year limit for PhD degree completion. Beyond this time, one would need to re-apply to the program. Also, after 8 years, coursework is retired, and cannot be utilized towards a degree program unless the courses are recertified.

Graduate student research is commonly funded by agencies that require timely acquisition, analysis, and reporting of results. Graduate students who fail to fulfill their funded research obligations in a timely, professional, and satisfactory manner may be removed from the overall research project at the discretion of their academic advisor.

The following is a semester-to-yearly timeline that can be used as a guide for completing the Geology PhD degree program in four years:

Fall Semester, Year One
Meet with advisor often to define a research project.
Discuss expectations of the Geosciences Department for graduate students with advisor after
reviewing it. Sign the Geosciences Department Expectations Form upon completion.
Submit signed Expectations Form to Grad Program Coordinator for department records.
Establish dissertation committee, submit School of Graduate Studies' Supervisory Committee Approval
form to Grad Program Coordinator.
Apply for funding from graduate student grants. This application process starts in the late fall and
concludes in the early spring. Be sure to verify deadlines well ahead of time.
Spring Semester, Year One
Have first dissertation committee meeting at start of semester, focused upon the Program of Study and
any prerequisites.
Apply for research grant opportunities, if appropriate.
Begin writing dissertation proposal draft with advisor mentoring.
Schedule a meeting with the Faculty Graduate Committee and advisor.
Discuss authorship and copyright questions with advisor before beginning your research.
Complete and sign Authorship Form. https://gradschool.usu.edu/forms/
Examine Copyright Form but do not sign until defense. <a href="https://gradschool.usu.edu/forms/">https://gradschool.usu.edu/forms/</a>
Complete the first part of the Comprehensive Examinations for the Ph.D. (Part 1 of 3) this semester.
Complete the Geosciences department's annual Progress Form with advisor/or committee.
Sign and submit a digital copy of Progress Form with Grad Program Coordinator upon completion.
Surrans ou Compository Volume
Summer Semester, Year One
After success in the written (Part 1-Exam 1 written) comps, complete with committee the Program of

Study for Doctoral Degree form and submit to Grad Program Coordinator. Be sure to list your

specialization.
Conduct initial research while working towards the completion of the dissertation proposal.
Apply for residency in the state of Utah, if necessary.
Fall Semester, Year Two
Have a committee meeting regarding the draft dissertation proposal and to schedule the Written
Comprehensive Examination (Part 2 of 3, Written Exam part 2) early in the semester. If exam 1 indicated that some additional coursework or training is required, parts 2 and 3 of the Comprehensive
Examination may be postponed.  With the montering of the addisor, apply for receased funding apportunities, if necessary and
With the mentoring of the advisor, apply for research funding opportunities, if necessary and appropriate.
Spring Semester, Year Two
After Written Comps are done, complete the Dissertation Proposal.
Defend in the Oral Comprehensive Examination portion. This is part 3 of 3 in the Comprehensive Examination for PhD graduate students.
Revise and get Dissertation Proposal signed, provide copy to Grad Program Coordinator. At this time, the School of Graduate Studies Application for Candidacy form is submitted.
Continue dissertation research in earnest.
<ul> <li>Make a 15-minute oral presentation during the departmental Speaker Series or at a professional meeting on the dissertation project. Poster presentations do not count for this requirement.</li> <li>Complete the Geosciences department's annual Progress Form with advisor &amp; committee.</li> <li>Sign and submit a digital copy of Progress Form with Grad Program Coordinator upon completion.</li> </ul>
Year Three  Conduct dissertation research, and write dissertation or scientific manuscripts.  Hold a dissertation committee meeting to appraise progress and gain mentoring.  If in academic specialization, a graduate student may instruct an undergraduate course. If in professional specialization, an internship may be sought and conducted.  Complete the Geosciences department's annual Progress Form with advisor/or committee.  Sign and submit a digital copy of Progress Form with Grad Program Coordinator upon completion.
Year Four
Complete dissertation research early in this academic year.
Complete writing of dissertation. Submit refined draft to committee and allow at least 2-4 weeks for
review. When approved, this becomes the defense copy of your dissertation.
With committee signatures, submit Appointment for Examination form directly to the School of
Graduate Studies. Forms must be submitted 2 weeks prior to the defense date requested.
Successfully defend dissertation. Graduate student must be registered for at least 1 dissertation credit
during the semester of defense.
Make defense corrections to dissertation.
Submit Title Page form.
Submit committee approved dissertation to GPC who will submit it to School of Graduate Studies for
review. Also submit Authorship & Copyright and Format & Style forms.
Complete the Geosciences department's Annual Progress form with advisor/committee (if the
committee has a draft of the thesis, this form is not required) Sign and submit a digital copy of Progress Form with Grad Program Coordinator upon completion.
sign and submit a digital copy of mogress form with stad mogram coordinator upon completion.

### If Dissertation not Complete in Fourth Year

- \_\_\_\_ If the dissertation is not submitted to School of Graduate Studies and all degree requirements are not completed by the end of the semester following the defense, then the graduate student must register for at least one credit the semester that the final dissertation is submitted. If it is not completed within one year of the defense, it must be re-defended.
- \_\_\_Continue to make presentations to department or at a professional meeting once per academic year.
- \_\_\_Continue to discuss progress with advisor and committee. Complete annual progress form.
- \_\_\_Matriculated status may be changed to non-matriculated after five years, at the discretion of the major advisor and Faculty Graduate Committee, and based upon satisfactory progress.

#### PHD DISSERTATION COMMITTEE

Graduate students are strongly encouraged to establish their committees during their first semester, but the dissertation committee must be established no later than the graduate student's second semester on campus. The dissertation committee provides input in the process of course selection, design of the research and the Dissertation proposal, and conducts most of the comprehensive examination process.

In consultation with advisor, select at least 4 other committee members. Three members total are required to be from within the Geosciences Department, including emeritus professors. At least one member of the committee is required to be outside the Geosciences Department. These outside committee members may be from other USU departments or from other institutions, such as those with an adjunct appointment in our Department.

Faculty must be consulted about serving on the committee and their consent obtained. Complete the Supervisory Committee Approval form with all required signatures and submit it to the Grad Program Coordinator who will forward the form to the School of Graduate Studies. As with all forms, verify with advisor that the form is ready to be initiated.

No changes in committee membership are permitted within six weeks of the dissertation defense - this is a School of Graduate Studies requirement.

Once dissertation research has been initiated, it is recommended that graduate students meet with their committee once a semester to discuss progress, problems or deviations from the original proposal.

At least one dissertation committee meeting must be held within the regular nine-month academic year. At this meeting, the committee will evaluate progress toward completion of degree requirements. Failure of the graduate student to convene at least one thesis committee meeting within the regular nine-month academic year will be interpreted as a sign of unsatisfactory progress.

#### PHD PROGRAM OF STUDY AND COURSES

Once a dissertation committee has been approved by the School of Graduate Studies, the graduate student should then meet with the advisor and committee members to determine an initial course of study appropriate for the intended thesis research. After the second semester, when the Written Comprehensive Exam is complete, the graduate student and committee will formally fill out the Program of Study for Doctoral Degree. This document and the associated signature page are completed in DegreeWorks within USU's Banner system—follow the instructions on the Grad School's website <a href="https://gradschool.usu.edu">https://gradschool.usu.edu</a>! Once filled in, graduate student must notify by email the Grad Program Coordinator who checks them and forwards them on to be completed through the School of Graduate Studies.

After the description at the top of the form in DegreeWorks, graduate student should type in their research specialization. The Geosciences MS degrees have six specializations: 1) Geomorphology and Earth Surface Processes; 2) Geophysics; 3) Hydro-Geosciences; 4) Petrology and Geochemistry; 5) Sedimentology and Paleoecology; and 6) Structure and Tectonics.

PhD graduate students will not be allowed to receive Teaching Assistant support or instate tuition waivers after their third semester unless the Program of Study is signed and filed at the School of Graduate Studies. Exceptions must be appealed at the discretion of the Geosciences Faculty Graduate Committee.

The Program of Study represents a contract. If changes need to be done during the course of study, the form must be updated for the School of Graduate Studies or graduate student will not be able to graduate. This requires that the advisor and the Geosciences Grad Program Coordinator approve the changes and inform the School of Graduate Studies.

#### **Distribution of Credits**

The balance of coursework and dissertation research credits in a graduate student's program of study is tailored to each student's needs. This is ultimately the decision of the graduate student's advisory committee, and is recorded in the Program of Study for the School of Graduate Studies.

As a general guideline, of the 42 credits required (if an M.S. has been completed), there will be about an equal balance of coursework and dissertation research credits, with a minimum of 15 credits of dissertation research. Most coursework should be at the 6000-level and above (excluding GEO 6900, 7970, and 7990), with 9 or more at the 7000-level. Avoid having more than 12 credits of coursework numbered below the 6000 level.

If starting from a B.S., of the 72 credits required, at least 21 should be dissertation research, 21 coursework at the 6000-level and above (excluding Geo 6900, 7970, and 7990), and 12 or more at the 7000-level. Avoid having more than 21 credits below the 6000 level.

No more than 3 credits of 3000-4999 level courses may be applied toward the degree. These 3000-4999 level credits must be from outside your major area.

Following USU School of Graduate Studies residency requirements, no more than 12 credits can be transferred from another institution. They must not have been used towards another degree, nor be more than 8 years old.

For utilitarian purposes of filling out a semester's credits only, the department's weekly Distinguished Lecturer Series (GEO 6820) can be taken for 1 credit.

Depending upon whether you are undertaking the Academic versus Professional track, you will include GEO 6900 credits for either teaching a course or conducting an industry internship. A typical summer industry internship or a semester's teaching experience at the PhD level equates to 6 credits of Internship/Co-op Experience (GEO 6900). The School of Teacher Education and Leadership (TEAL) and Department of Instructional Technology and Learning Sciences (ITLS) here at USU offer several courses useful for pedagogy and technological training.

After the required credits on the Program of Study are complete, any remaining credits until graduation must be Continuing Grad Advisement (GEO 7990). These are not included in the Program of Study.

#### **Grades and GPA**

Only two grades of less than a B (e.g. B- to C-) will be accepted as part of the required degree program as listed on the Program of Study. The School of Graduate Studies will not accept D grades. A 3.0 GPA must be obtained on required course work as listed on the Program of Study. If a graduate student's GPA falls below a 3.0, the School of Graduate Studies will place the graduate student on probation, which disqualifies them to receive financial aid or TA funding. A graduate student has one semester to raise their GPA and retain matriculated status.

Dissertation research credits will be graded Pass/Fail only, and are listed as Incomplete each semester they are taken. When the degree program is complete, the grades are changed to Pass.

Only the pertinent member of the Faculty Graduate Committee can change these thesis credit incompletes, as the instructor of record. Before changing the incompletes to Pass, the Faculty Graduate Committee must see and sign the Exit Form for Graduate students, ensuring that any departmental equipment is checked back in, USU keys are returned, and etc.

# MONITORING AND EVALUATION OF PHD GRADUATE STUDENT PROGRESS

Review of progress will be an ongoing process, and evidence of satisfactory progress includes: a)at least annual committee meetings and associated memo from your advisor; b) the completion of the Program of Study; c) dissertation proposal; d) annual presentations; e) success in obtaining grant funding; and f) performance in graduate coursework.

Unsatisfactory progress may be indicated through: a) failure to follow the graduate student time line presented above; b) unsatisfactory GPA and academic probation; c) your rate of progress in coursework; d) lack of thesis committee meetings; d) failure to make satisfactory progress on thesis research.

If unsatisfactory performance is perceived by the thesis research advisor or Faculty Graduate Committee, the Geosciences Faculty Graduate Committee will speak with the graduate student and, if necessary, the committee. The Faculty Graduate Committee will then write a memo of notification regarding unsatisfactory progress for the graduate student's file and provide the graduate student plus advisor with copies.

If, over the semester following the above notification, the graduate student continues to make unsatisfactory progress toward the degree (as determined by the advisor, thesis committee and Geosciences Faculty Graduate Committee), the graduate student will be placed in non-matriculated status and the School of Graduate Studies will be notified. This ends the graduate student's participation in the Geosciences Graduate Program.

#### PHD DISSERTATION PROPOSAL

The Dissertation Proposal should be a major focus of the first three academic semesters. Creation of the research proposal will help the graduate student to focus and organize their project, and their dissertation committee will be able to provide input during the writing and review stages of the proposal.

The proposal is an agreement between the graduate student and their advisory committee that the research is of an appropriate nature and the methods described are adequate. This provides a safeguard against excessive additions or changes during the research project. Research projects commonly evolve and change. If the graduate student and committee are in agreement, then the project may be modified.

As with most aspects of working on their PhD, communication between their advisor, and their advisory committee will help things to go smoothly.

#### **Format**

The body of the Dissertation Proposal should be similar in scale, style, length, and rigor to a standard NSF proposal. Your major advisor will provide additional guidance on the scope and format of your proposal. The identification of an important problem and a research design to address it is fundamental to doctoral-level work. The proposal may have on the order of 30 pages of double-spaced text, including initial research or analytical findings, tables, and figure. In addition, there will be references.

NSF-style proposals are a pertinent and available model, that will be needed in future proposals during a professional research career. Here are some themes good NSF proposals illustrate:

- 1) Write information at a synthesis level for other colleagues who are authorities. When writing a background review, assume the reader has basic knowledge, distill the essence of it, and get to the important nuances for the particular problem.
- 2) Write with great concision, edit and shorten. For example, cite only the salient references, not a comprehensive history of them.
- 3) Readers will look to see if the research goals are clearly linked to the components of the research design. The research design should explicitly and convincingly address the questions and broader problem.
- 4) The broader problem and the importance of the work are as important as the nuts-and-bolts. Convincing a reader that the work has a critical place in a grander context of knowledge may increase the possibility of funding. This will help to exhibit mastery of a field.

NOTE: Although the School of Graduate Studies does not require approval, or a copy, of the proposal, please provide the Grad Program Coordinator with a digital copy of the proposal for the department file.

# PH.D. COMPREHENSIVE EXAMINATIONS

The Geosciences Department graduate program requires all Ph.D. graduate students to pass both written and oral comprehensive examinations in order to advance to candidacy for the degree. The purpose of these 3 examinations is to ensure that a graduate student is academically prepared to conduct Doctoral-level research.

The comprehensive examination has two written parts and one culminating oral examination that are taken at different times. These are called exam 1, 2, and 3, for simplicity.

# Exam 1: Written survey of knowledge in the geosciences

The first written examination is called Exam 1 (also referred to as the "breadth exam") and should be administered in a graduate student's second semester at Utah State University so that any deficiencies identified can be addressed in a timely manner by coursework, independent study, research experiences, or the retaking of all or part of the examination. A key objective of exam 1 is to identify any deficiencies and areas that need strengthening early as the graduate student embarks on their research and plan of study. A poor performance on exam one could lead to unsatisfactory status.

The Exam 1 written comps are specifically useful for identifying coursework that is needed, and any graduate coursework or out-of-the-discipline coursework identified as a condition should be included on the subsequent Program of Study form, which is completed as soon as possible after the exam. Undergraduate Geoscience deficiencies cannot be included in the Program of Study.

#### Exam 2 and 3: Written detailed guestions from the committee

Exams 2 and 3 should be completed in a graduate student's second year, in concert with the research proposal.

The oral comprehensive examination should occur no later than the semester following the completion of the written comprehensive exam (typically in the second year). The oral exam hinges upon a presentation and defense of the research proposal. Thus, the research proposal must be completed and approved by the committee concurrently. Upon successful completion of the oral comprehensive examination, the graduate student officially advances to candidacy for the Ph.D.

#### WRITTEN COMPREHENSIVE EXAMINATION

The two parts of the written comprehensive exam are distinct in timing and purpose. The written exam 1 examines the candidate's breadth of knowledge in the overall Geosciences and is administered largely by the Faculty Graduate Committee. The written exam 2 examines the candidate's depth of knowledge in his or her specialties and is conducted by the graduate student's advisor and committee.

#### Exam 1 written exam

The format is an ~8 hour closed-book exam, usually split into more than one day and comprising of 5-10 questions. It is the responsibility of the Faculty Graduate Committee to organize the comprehensive examination and solicit questions from the faculty in general, such that a reasonable mix of questions are assembled. These questions would be ones that a strong graduate student could answer after completing introductory Physical Geology course.

To evaluate the Exam 1, the Geosciences Graduate Director will assemble and exam committee and assign individual questions for their evaluation The exam committee should comprise several Geosciences faculty that may or may not be members of the candidates supervisory committee, and should exclude the primary advisor. This panel utilizes the Results of Ph.D. Comprehensive Examination: Written Exam 1 form.

# Exam 2 written exam

The format may vary depending upon advisor preference, but is typically an open-media, take-home examination, comprising 4-7 major questions, calculations, or other educational tasks, with a time limit of approximately one week at the discretion of the examination committee composed of the graduate student's dissertation committee members. It is suggested the Exam 2 proceed shortly after the Dissertation Proposal is provide to the candidate's committee for review. The written questions for Exam 2 will be solicited from the candidate's committee members by the Dissertation Committee Chair (primary advisor). Questions could be designed to expand on, clarify, or improve the Dissertation, Proposal, and/or evaluate the depth of the candidate's knowledge within their area of research.

The graduate student's dissertation committee members evaluate the written exam, then record the results using the Results of Ph.D. Comprehensive Examination: Written Exam 2 form. Based upon performance, the committee or committee members may choose to vote conditional pass, and then identify those conditions to be met. If two or more committee members vote not pass, the committee may in its summary evaluation vote not pass, and the graduate student's program will be terminated.

#### ORAL EXAMINATION AND DISSERTATION PROPOSAL PRESENTATION

The Ph.D. graduate student will prepare a professional presentation based upon their Dissertation Proposal, to be given to their exam committee only, composed of the dissertation committee members. The length

of this presentation is at the discretion of the primary advisor, but is typically 30-60 minutes. Following upon this presentation, the examination committee will ask questions about its content, as well as deep and probing questions about the research topic under consideration.

The specific purpose of the oral comprehensive examination is to ensure the candidate's knowledge of their research area and the soundness of their research proposal and research design. It has the additional purpose of providing an important exercise in professional verbal communication in the sciences, which should be well organized, concise, and rigorous.

The examination committee records its evaluation on the Results of Ph.D. Comprehensive Examination: Exam 3 form. If two or more committee members vote not pass, the committee may in its summary evaluation, vote not pass, and the graduate student's program will be terminated.

Based upon performance in the oral comprehensive exam, the committee or committee members may choose to vote conditional pass, and then identify those conditions to be met.

# ADVANCING TO CANDIDACY

Once both the written and oral comprehensive exams have been successfully passed (excluding any coursework conditions listed on the graduate students Program of Study) and the Dissertation Proposal is complete and signed by the committee, then The School of Graduate Studies' Application for Candidacy form can be filled out. This must be signed by the primary advisor and the Geosciences Department Head.

#### PHD DISSERTATION

#### **Format**

Use the School of Graduate School format and style guide: <a href="https://gradschool.usu.edu/files/Publication-Guide-2023.pdf">https://gradschool.usu.edu/files/Publication-Guide-2023.pdf</a>

In consultation with advisor, choose a geoscience journal whose format that can be followed with respect to citations. Geological Society of America publications are our default standard for style, and a style guide is available from them: <a href="https://www.geosociety.org/GSA/Publications/Info\_Services/Author\_Info/">https://www.geosociety.org/GSA/Publications/Info\_Services/Author\_Info/</a>

In addition to a regular scientific abstract for the dissertation, USU now requires a public abstract as well. This is a non-technical summary of the work that can be read and understood by non-specialists. This is a skill that is increasingly important.

# **ROLE OF THE ADVISOR AND DISSERTATION COMMITTEE**

Frequent communication with an advisor is critical in successfully completing a PhD.

Their role is to evaluate the methods, the logic, synthesis of data, and conclusions

Preliminary drafts should be reviewed by the dissertation advisor rather than by the entire committee.

Graduate students should be aware that the form, content of a dissertation, and the level of expectation by an advisor vary for any number of reasons. Different kinds of research problems and methodologies that may be applied, changes in faculty, different abilities of graduate students, access to data, funding, etc.

Once the dissertation draft has been reviewed and corrected initially, then with the advisor's consent, the draft can then be reviewed by all committee members. This draft is not the defense copy.

Upon approving a dissertation draft for defense, committee members, including the advisor, should be allowed at least 2 to 4 weeks for review of the draft. Committee members may refuse to review theses when other departmental or professional obligations conflict with a timely review.

Once approved by the committee, this version of the dissertation becomes the defense copy. This version will not be returned to the candidate nor will any further changes be made in the document by the candidate until after the defense. The committee must have the defense copy at least two weeks prior to the defense. If there are photos, large plates or appendices not quite ready for expensive duplication, at least one copy should be made available to the committee for the two-week period prior to the defense.

#### **DEFENSE PREPARATION**

The dissertation defense is viewed as the last major hurdle on the path to receiving your degree. The length of the public presentation of the research should be about 30-50 minutes, similar to a typical science seminar. This leaves time for set up and questions afterwards.

The graduate student is responsible for scheduling the defense with the School of Graduate Studies after approval of their advisor and consultation with their committee. Remember that all committee members must have read the dissertation before agreeing to schedule the defense.

#### COMPLETION OF THE DEGREE AND BINDING

After the Dissertation signature page is signed by the committee, the process is turned over to The School of Graduate Studies. Consult their webpage and materials to determine current practices are for scheduling and reviewing dissertations, gaining the Dean of Graduate Studies signature, and graduating.

Regarding binding a Dissertation, the USU library's policies have shifting away from requiring hardcopies, and instead the Grad Program Coordinator uploads an adobe pdf version along with a signed submission form. The Department of Geosciences still requests one bound copy, many advisors request one, and you may want a hardcopy yourself. The library still provides a binding service as needed--check with them for the latest guidelines. The plates and figures to be placed in back pockets and fold-out figures embedded in text must also be duplicated and fan-folded to a size appropriate for binding.

# Utah State University, Department of Geosciences Graduate Handbook and Policies

#### APPENDIX A

#### DEPARTMENT AND UNIVERSITY FORMS

Geosciences Department Forms	School of Graduate Studies Forms
All forms can be found at <u>geo.usu.edu/graduate-</u>	All SGS academic forms can be found at
program/departmental-graduate-forms	https://gradschool.usu.edu/resources/forms
<ul> <li>Annual Student Evaluation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li><u>Leave of Absence/Continuous Registration</u></li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Coursework Checklist</li> </ul>	<ul> <li><u>Utah Residency</u></li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Grad Expectations Form</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Appointment for Examination</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>GEO 6900 (Graduate Internship/Co-op)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li><u>Record of Examination</u></li> </ul>
Field Research Safety Plan	<ul> <li>Plan B Report/Creative Project Submission</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Thesis/Dissertation Format &amp; Style and</li> </ul>
	Electronic Publication Approval
	<ul> <li>Authorship &amp; Copyright</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li><u>Program of Study</u></li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Supervisory Committee Approval</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li><u>Master's Thesis/Project Approval</u></li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Application for Candidacy (PhD)</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Appointment for Examination</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Record of Examination</li> </ul>

#### **Graduate Student Annual Evaluations**

The Department of Geoscience's has an annual required Self-Evaluation for Graduate students that is a two-part process. Each graduate student on an RA or TA. must complete an <u>Individualized Development Plan</u> (IDP) via a software tool that is required by USU's College of Science.

"The IDP tool is an Excel spreadsheet. Several pages on the spreadsheet walk you through a series of questions to help you evaluate your abilities with respect to "core competencies" expected of STEM graduate students. (See the description of core competencies <a href="here">here</a>.) You will then set goals and identify mentors to give you feedback and help hold you accountable for the goals you set. When you have completed each section, you can print out a certificate of completion to give to your department and/or thesis/dissertation committee."

Many of the ideas for the IDP tool were inspired by the following resources: <u>AAAS myIDP</u> - This is an interactive website designed to help you explore career interests as well as develop an IDP.

- This is a multi-step process that involves completion of the IDP tool, the <u>Department of Geosciences Graduate Student Self-Evaluation Form</u>. The final step involves a meeting between the Student, Advisor, and Committee Member's and all discuss and review and revise if necessary before signing form.
- For additional Career Pathways we maintain a list of internships and job postings on a Jobs and Opportunities page, as well as send out emails to our graduate student email list.

# Utah State University, Department of Geosciences Graduate Handbook and Policies

#### APPDENDIX B

# RESOURCES

#### Core work resources

- <u>USU Code-of-Conduct</u> All students and faculty are expected to abide by this code of conduct that addresses non-discrimination, goals, values and academic integrity.
- Department of Geosciences Code-of-Conduct must be signed annually by graduate students
- Communication plans and expectations vary between each Advisor and graduate student. Our
  department has graduate student and faculty lists to send out group emails to communicate
  important or relevant community information to all members of the department. It is critical that
  your current @USU email is updated on the grad list with <u>Ellen Imler</u>.
- Reporting Discrimination and Harassment at the Office of Equity In addition to a student's advisor, This office is an appropriate place to address problems related to insensitivity, harassment, and exclusion. "If someone has experienced bias, racism, or microaggression, they can also seek support directly through USU's Social Climate Support Team. Additional resources and support are available through the Office of Equity, Aggies Thrive, and Human Resources. Additionally, if an issue is reported to the Office of Equity but does not rise to the level of a discrimination policy violation, or if there is not enough information to pursue a formal investigation (e.g., the person experiencing discrimination does not know the identity of the person who committed the violation), the Office of Equity will refer the incident to the Social Climate Support Team for outreach and support."
- Reporting Sexual Assault and Anti-Violence on campus Off campus, any member of our community can contact CAPSA seeking help from domestic violence or sexual assault.
- Field Equipment Contact office staff to find individual field gear like waders, first aid kits, GPS units, field tablets, Brunton compasses, etc. Many items can be borrowed from labs within the department and the department has a gear closet for items such as waders, sledge hammers, hard hats, safety vests, etc.
  - Additionally, camping and a few field items such as tents, canoes, waterproof river bags, can be rented by students for a 35% discount from USU's <u>Outdoor Recreation Program</u>.

#### Conference and workshop participation

- Students are not required to attend workshops/conferences; however, it is strongly encouraged within our department for a Graduate student to present at least once during their time at USU. Depending on the location of the conference (<10 hour drive), we provide vehicles for students to travel as a group. The department covers the cost of this travel.</p>
- If a student from the department has an accepted abstract and is presenting at a conference, the department pays for the Conference Registration.
- Pl's and Advisors typically cover the hotel and travel expenses and students may also seek additional scholarship or travel funding (e.g. GSA travel grants or Dept. specific travel grants). USU also offers an SGS Travel award that ranges from \$200 - \$400 dollars

depending on geographic location. Students are eligible for these funds once per year ~ twice for an M.S. program and three times during a Doctoral Program.

#### Skillset support resources

- All Graduate student RA/TAs must take <u>Driver's Training</u> to rent vehicles from motor pool, drive a
  USU/department vehicle, or drive a personal vehicle for USU Sponsored research. This training
  must be renewed every 3 years.
- Available Coding resources at USU
  - o Online Base R course
  - o <u>3-unit Introduction to Python</u>
  - Matlab is freely available to USU faculty, staff and students at no cost and can be installed on university-owned and personally-owned computers, including online courses and tutorials.

#### Professional development resources

- All funded Graduate Students must take the <u>Responsible Conduct of Research Training</u> (RCR) to develop awareness of ethical scientific research principles.
- Teaching Assistants (TAs) and Graduate Student Instructors are required to take a "0" credit online TA Training course (USU 7920) offered through USU's School of Graduate Studies. An additional training program is required for International Students (IELI 7920). The IELI course "addresses understanding American undergraduates, classroom practices and environment, microteaching practicum, classroom language, cross-cultural awareness, and classroom management. The workshop culminates in a video-recorded presentation of the student that is evaluated based on overall comprehensibility and effectiveness in a teaching role."
- Additional <u>professional skills trainings</u> for graduate students are offered through USU School of Graduate Studies.
- The <u>Office of Empowering Teaching Excellence</u> provides events, trainings, and programs for all USU instructors (all faculty ranks and graduate students teaching courses)
  - o Social media Content Development (JCOM 4040, 3 units)
  - o Proposal Writing Institute
  - To develop oral presentation skills, Geosciences' Graduate Students must present an annual progress report presentation within a Department Seminar if they have not presented orally at a professional meeting for that year.
  - o How to Get Meaningful Engagement on Social Media (USU extension)
  - The Department of Geosciences hosts an Annual Advisory Board Meeting where Graduate Students have a specified time to meet and network with members.
  - Graduate students typically receive training for design/drafting of figures using Adobe Suite/Python/ArcGIS in select courses, from major advisors, or from their peers. USU also offers a host of specific trainings.
  - Our Department is quite active in the AWG local SLC chapter and participates in their annual fundraiser each year. We send out emails to all graduate students to request their involvement and to notify regarding AWG scholarships.
  - Fellowships, internships, summer experiences, field course opportunities are listed online and emails inform of additional funding and scholarship opportunities as they arise.
  - o Opportunities to meet one-on-one with Department of Geosciences Seminar Series Speakers are sent to faculty, staff, and students to build professional networks.

# Utah State University, Department of Geosciences Graduate Handbook and Policies

#### APPDENDIX C

# ADDITIONAL RESOURCES & SUPPORT

# Community support and mental health resources

- Incoming students are encouraged to speak with their major professors and/or department administrator for help finding accommodations. Moving expenses/assistance should be discussed with major professors prior to arriving on campus.
- USU does provide a list of internal funding opportunities for students.
- Students are encouraged to speak with their major professors regarding expectations for taking vacation and for reasonable work hours (e.g., 40 hrs/wk). We review expectations that TA roles are anticipated to be no more than 20 hours per week, with 20 hours reserved for research. RA roles are expected to be ~ 40 hours per week. These expectations are reviewed during Graduate Student Orientation each fall.

#### **USU Community Services:**

- Student Health and Wellness Center
- Overall Student Wellness Comprehensive Website of Resources
- Food Pantry (SNAC)
- Counseling and Psychological Services (CAPS)
- Office of Equity
- Sexual Assault and Anti-Violence Information Office
- Center for Intersectional Gender Studies and Research
- Inclusion Center
- Black Mental Health Matters
- Underrepresented Students Resources
  - We encourage and assist making connections to someone who may understand student experiences (e.g., Black male counselor for a Black male student)
- USU organizations and social clubs with common identities and/or interests:
  - USU Inclusion Center
  - o <u>USU Interfaith Initiative</u>
  - Multi-cultural Student Services and School Lounge
  - USU Latinx Cultural Center
  - USU Black Student Union
  - Asian Student Association
  - Undocumented Students
  - o <u>Indigenous Programs</u>
  - USU Native American Student Council
  - o <u>USU Polynesian Student Union</u>
  - USU Queer Student Alliance
  - Logan Pride Center
  - Black Lives Matter Utah
  - Cache Refugee and Immigrant Connection
  - Center for Persons with Disabilities
  - o <u>Inclusion Center Calendar of Events</u>

# **Broader Community Services:**

- Logan has nearly 300 local clubs and organizations to help new students and faculty feel at home or to offer specific services.
- Organizations are listed on the <u>Logan Library</u> webpage, some of which include: Cache Valley Center for the Arts, Cache Pride Center, Disability Law Center, Utah Theatre, Jyushinkan Aikido Dojo, Youth Soccer, Centro de la Familia de Utah, Cache Refugee and Immigrant Connection [CRIC]
- USU's Interfaith initiative provides an extensive compilation of community faith organizations and calendar.
- Citizens Against Physical and Sexual Abuse (<u>CAPSA</u>)
- <u>Planned Parenthood</u>
- <u>Black Lives Matter Utah</u> provides a directory of black-owned-companies, include salons, barber shops, clothing, community organizations, gyms, bars, restaurants, caterers, artists, and event spaces.

# Utah State University, Department of Geosciences Graduate Handbook and Policies

#### APPDENDIX D

# DEPARTMENT OF GEOSCIENCES SCHOLARSHIPS

Summary of Criteria

# Peter R. McKillop Memorial Scholarship

Developed in honor of Peter by his advisor Jim Evans, Susanne Janecke, and friends of Peter. The award will go to a graduate student who, like Peter, has a strong academic record and is not already well funded. Need and demonstrated interest or aptitude in other fields, such as the arts, humanities, community service, or music may be used as a secondary selection criterion.

#### Robert Q. Oaks, Jr. Scholarship

Developed to recognize Bob's dedication and excellence in teaching and challenging all his students. The scholarship will assist undergraduate and graduate students who are nearing the completion of their degrees. In order to be considered, graduate students must have completed their thesis or dissertation proposals and be in the final stages of writing their thesis or dissertation. Undergraduate student applicants must be Geology majors in good standing, within 20 credits of graduation and have a minimum 2.2 GPA. All students must demonstrate financial need and have completed a majority of their course work as determined by their advisor. Recipients must agree to remain enrolled in their respective degree program and remain in residence, defined as actively pursuing completion of their degree on one of USU's campuses.

#### Kim R. Robeson Memorial Travel Award

Developed in honor of Kim by his adviser Jim Evans and by Susanne Janecke. The award provides support of non-class-related trips for graduate students, including trips organized by student groups, particularly to help with expenses for groups of students involved in laboratory or field research.

#### Beryl O. & Tura H. Springer Memorial Scholarship

Established by Jerry R. Springer in 2006 to honor the strong heritage of mining in the Springer family and the Springer family legacy which spans five generations at Utah State University. This award supports graduate and undergraduate geology majors. Undergraduates must have at least Junior-level standing. Recipients must demonstrate excellence in academic achievement.

#### J. Stewart Williams Graduate Fellowship

Developed to honor the memory of this former faculty member, department head, and graduate dean. The endowment provides support for summer research expenses incurred by graduate students. In order to be eligible for this award, graduate students must be in good standing with a minimum 3.0 GPA, have completed & submitted a fully-signed thesis committee form, have completed & submitted a fully signed-program of study form, and have completed & submitted a fully-signed thesis proposal by May 15.

# Summit Fund

Started by Susanne Janecke & Jim Evans, Angela Isaacs, Caleb Pollock, and other alumni. The fund supports two efforts—The Craig Forster Lecturer and scholarships for graduate students. To be eligible for the Summit Scholarship, graduate students must be in good standing with a minimum 3.0 GPA, have completed & submitted a fully-signed thesis committee form, have completed & submitted a fully-signed program of study form, have completed & submitted a fully-signed thesis proposal, and made satisfactory progress toward their research and coursework.